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Approved Judgment
I direct that pursuant to CPRFD 39A para 6.1 o official shorthand noté shall be taken of this
Judgment and that copies of this version ps handed down may be treated s authentic.

MR, JUSTICE RODERIC WOOD

This judgment is being handed down in private on 915t November 2008 It consists of 40
pages and hes been signed sud dated by the judge, The judge gives leave for it to be reported,

The judgment is being distributed on the strlet understanding that in any Teport no pPerson
other than the advocates or the coliciors iastructing them (and other persons identified by
pame in the judgraent itself) may be identified by name or location and that in particular the
anonytmity of the children and the zdult members of their farmily must be strietly preserved.
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ﬁstice Roderic Woad:

The Rroceedings:

On 16" November 2006 PM (sometimes teferred to b the initigts PM and sornetimes
raferred to ms “the father) issued an originating sumimons seeking to invoke the
pnherent jurisdiction/wardslﬁp jurisdiction of the High Court.

The subject of the proceedings is hiis daughter HM. She was bom on 227 December
1088 and iz thes 2 few wesks short of her 20™ birthday.

LM’s mother is KH (sometimes reforred to by those initials, and sometimes referred
to a5 “the mother”).

For reasons which shall appear hereafter, the Health and Social Servicss Depariment
of the States of Guernsey (hereinafter called simply “Guemmnsey, but net 10 be
confused however with the Royal Court of Guernsey) are interested parties.

By order of Charles 1. of 5% December 2006 tho proceedings Were directed to be
continued prrsuent to the provisions of Part 8 of the Civil Procedure Rules.

 The procecdings continue in the High Court snder the ipherent jurisdietion by virtue
of Afticle 3 of the Menizl Capacity Act 2005 (Trensitions] and Conssquential

Provisions) Order 2007, relating as they do o & young wornan who lacks capacity to
decids upon issuss relating to her care.

Representation:

7.

10,

il.

The father appedrs m persn, although he has had the beaefit, throughout this herring,
of a Mckenzie Friend. His Mckenzie Friend bas provided a lemer in support of the
Father’s case, it being appended to one of PM’s carlier stetements. 1 neverthelesa
decided, despite his suggosted status us 4 possible witness, that he conld, subject 10
me sveluating his position throughout the trial, act a8 PM’s Mckenzie Friend. I also
culed that he wounld not give oral evidence, pat fat I would teal his written
t=stimonial to the father as evidence in the casa. :

The mother at this hearing had the advantage of pro-hono repregentation by Miss
Gillian Irving Q.C.

The States of Guemsey Health and Social Services Department (hereinafier called
“CGruernsey’) Were represented by Mr. ! onathen Bennett.

An establishment ealled DLC, to which T shall refer hater, applied at the outset for
permission for a solicitor to attend on 2 eyratching brief”. That application Wwis
granted, :

HM is a protected party within the definition of the Civil Procedure Rules (see part
21, male 211 @) She was made a party 1o the procecdings by Charles 1. on 5%
Degernber 2006, and following an order of Sumner I. on 28" Rebruary 2007 the
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Official Solicitor was appointed ad ber | itigation Friend, fie having consented 1o take
Jenni Richards.

that role. He hes, this weels, been represented by counsel, Ms.

HM's Capacity:

12, Itis agresd by all parties, the Court malking formal declarations to this effect on 28"
 Feornary 2007, that che does not have the capacity maks decisions about her
treatment and care, and on 26% July 2007 that she lacks the capacity to make decisions

ahout her medical freatment.

"The Isstiest

Alg ASSUES:
13, 1 am esked to datermine the following issues:
i) Where HM should live for the foreseeable foture;
iy M shé does nat live with her father, the extent of his confact with her;

ilj) - If she ransfers from her current placement al DLC (school) to DLC (college)
' what, if any, siuctures cen \, andfor should 1, erect around the dealings

between the father and DLC (college);

iv) I shedoes live wirh her father, the extent of the mother’s contact with her;
ard HIM's personal dignity end privacy in

V) The grrangements, if any, 1o safegu
eing/ living with her father.

relation to her intimete oare when se

Other Litigation:

14, Before turning to any other smatrers it is necessary to give a flavour of the litigation

landscape aver the last ten plus years, I do so paticularly because the Royal Court of
Guemsey (Matrimonial Canses Division) has made 4 number of orders in relation to
1M which still continue in force as un-discharged orders, even though various aspeots
of those orders have either been ignored {by the father} or overtaken by orders of the

Baglish Court. Thus the issue of cornity arises starkly,

Guerpsey:
15. Over many ysars there was litigation in Guernsey concerning the proper arengerments
for BM. Her patents, who had married on 23" January 1983, and whose marriage had

endad with 2 decree absoluta pronounced on 22" June 1998, have been in extensive -
fitigation with each other. '
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16,

17.

18,

19.

20.

having at one stags
However, as e procesdings continued year sfier ySar the predomingnt weight of

The repeated end acrimorions applications in that stream of litigation centred for a

considersble period around igsues of contact, The mother Jid not escape censure, she
for many months stopped contect betwesn FOV and her father.
censure felt upon. the father. In dog course thers axose for consideration the proper
residential provision for UM, It was clear that this conld pot be provided on the
island of Guemsey, for it had no infrastructore designed to catér O the neads of a then
child, In due course HM was placed at DLC Qchpol in consequence of an order of the

Guernsey court.

1 ieutenant Bailiff Cherry MelvEillen, on 22" December 2005, decided not only that
M should continue 10 veside ax DLC, but that hier mother should be appointsd gole
Guardian and make all the major decisions concerning FHM’s medical needs, health,
care, welfase, education and religion (with a provisc that the medical aspests must be
in accordance with the advice of FIM's medical advisors and other professionals
charped with her care), and that the school should [iaise golely with the mother in all
matters relating to those isaugs, PM was restrzined from making 4ny contact with

DLC or any member of the DLC (school) until frther arder save as therein provided
for. - -

‘On the same day she confirmed as still being opesative a previons oyder of the Court
of Appeal of GuemsSey dated 29 September 2006 to the effect that no proceediigs
shonld be commenced by either fhe mother O the father in the courts of amy
jurisdiction other than Chaernsey Save with the prior consent of the Court of Appeal.
These procesdings brought by PM ere of course in contravention of that order, and I

sha]l set out the position of Guemnsey I rglation to the contempt of this provision, and . b
a3 1o the approach. the Island takes to this court’s exercise of its jursdiction.

Durther provigions meds it olear that nothing in the order was to pravemt the
enjoyment of contact between BIM #and the father which could teke place “al such
times 2nd, in such conditions as divected by the centre/school [DLCL For the
avoidance of doubt, it is antcipated that the centre/school will provide 2 scheduls of
21} anticipated visits between M and her pavents in sach calendar year”. The order
went on to define a way in which the father could megatiate with the school as io
comtact arTangements, Furthermore, it provided thet fhere was nothing to prevent the
father from receiving of giving information 1o e school immediately before/after any
quch visits, Telephone contact was permitted on 2 Tuesday berween HM and her
father. Theyc wore frrther extensive provisions setting out s scheme which, in effect,
wag designed to create & structure protective of the gehoal from percelved intrusion by
the fathor, 1 for one have uot in over 30 years in this Division seeh &l order which
acts out in such fine Jetall the way in which a parent ghall comport themselves it
pelation to an educational establishment. 1t speaks volumes for the poor relatiomship
which existed and still exists between the father and DLO. 1 shall refurn to this

subject in due course-

1 need not set out in further detail the nature and extent of the Hifigation. 1 have been
invited to read in particular the judgment of Cherly McMillen (Lieutesent Bailiff) of -
2 Septomber 2005, as well g miscellancous documents from those praceedings,
including two judgments of Tieutenant Bailiff Kezsten Q.C., and two of the Court of
Appeal of Guerpsey which had also in the course of those years beel seized of the
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" matter, Lregard it a0 unnecessaxy to ropoat of Sven suramarise il of those judgments

wiich are, in the event that others need to consider them, available within the bundle.

All that it is necessary to say abot each and every stage of that litigation is that it
lustrates many themes of disagreement as to the appropriate care for HM. ' In effect,
those themes are the same as the ones ROw before me. The untald misery, intellactual
apd emotional burden, and expense of tiiy ynending stream (sometimes parallel
strearns — see below) of litigation. can only be imagined, When the mother was asked
by Miss Richards in the witness box about the effect of this litigation on her she
crumpled in misery and wept quietly.

Chester:

22.

24,

25.

The father hes zlso brought procesdings in the Chester County Court pursuant to the
provisions of the Children Act 1089, At the thme of making his original &p plication in
Octoher 2006 he was anxious {0 obtain 2 prohibited steps arder (section B of the Act)
preventing the carrying out of an operation on HM which he had been informed by
the mather was about to be undertaken. 1t is interesting to note that he chose o
litigate this issue_rsftller than enter info consiructive diseussions/correspondence with
the mother as to the necsssity for the operasion. She had written to him beforchand
informting him that the subject was under discussion but he choss not 10 sngage. See
below for further commentary on his attitudes in general, On 24" Dctober 2006 HET
Halbert declined jurisdiction on the basis that the Court of Guernsey Wwas the Forum
Corveniens for proceedings in relaton to BM, and he stayed the father's spplication
for a prohibifed steps order, A few days later PM issued the odginating summons in
Wardship, refusing to obey the Guernsey prohibition on extea-island Ltigation,

He has, in addition, pursued an actlon against DLC under the Data Protechion Act

1998, Within those proceedings he seeks digelosure from DLC of informmation
relating to him. I need refer no Further to fho precise issuss within that litigation.

FJuriediction: Discussion:

M ig, in my view, wdoubtedly domiciled in Guemsey, but is more probably than
not habitually resident in Chesliirs. She has been thers sincs 2003, being cared for
and educated. The reality seems to me to be on any reasonable AppIo ach to the test of
tabitual residence that she qualifies for an English one.

On that besis, even having taken full and proper account of the Guemsey order
prohibiting litigation elsewhere, and giving all due and proper respect to the principle
of comity, I congider that I have jurisdiction to confinue to hear this case, a5, [ note,
have my predecessor brethren when they have congidered the matter. I say so
following consideration in pattioular of the case of Re S (Hospital Patient; Foreign
Curator) [19951 3 WLR 596, in which Hale T (as she then was) observed in the
context of a case concerning Norwegian citizen living in Bogland that "this cowt
mdoubtedly has jurisdiction to decide upon the legality of any proposed action in
relation to the care of & that jurisdiction is bused wpon presence here; it is not

22\
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displaced by the appeiniment of Mys Bjorn as his guardian in Norway, Even If in
English law he is domiciled thers, "

The question of comity has excrcised in parficular Sumnner I, he on 26™ Fuly 2007
having stayed these procesdings, githongh he gave any party the right to epply to lift
the stay, Tn the course of the oral evidence before me there app eared fo be & dispute
a5 between the father and all others as to Why the stey had been imposed, but baving
seen documentation, and in pactiowlar a letter from the father’s then advocate, 1 2m
sarisFied that the reason for staying the litigation was as set out ubove (pamely the
principle of comity), and not for zny other reason. HoWwever, for reasong which
appear hereafter, the sty was lifted in Junc 2008.

In a position statement &1ed for this hearing, Mr. Bennett acknowledges that Guernsey
hasg agreed to 'bend the imee’ to this jurisdiction in its attempt to rule wpon the best
interests of M. However, this consent ia not an unconditional consent to 2bide by
any order T make. 1 shall advert at stages to the natire and extent of thelr conditions.
Furthermore thelr pragmatic litigation posturs does not bind the Royal Court of
Guernsey whoss orders remain in place unti! varied ot discharged,

ES

.M.

 evsmnterrt

She is the second of two children born to these parents, her elder sister J.M. having
been bom on 4% February 1987, 1 heve read and heard mach about her, md seen
some photographs ofher provided by hes father,

1er Disabilities/Yiedical Condition:

Z9.

30.

31.

She was for many yeaxs thought to have an autistic spoctrum disorder, More ToGEnt
appraisal of her, 1n particular by Dr. Land, (the consultent peychiatrist specialising in
learning disabilitics who has yeported for the court), suggests that whilst she may have
aulistio traits it is not thought likely that she is properly described 2s being within the
autistic spectram.

The Head Teacher of DLC (Mr. D) saye this of her

“She is not fypically autistic in that she clearly knows the
purpose of communication and has a wish to commumicate, bui
<he has the cbsessionality, fixations and anxiety which are
norma) aspects of the disorder. She is physically able”.

She furthermore has a compaunicaion disorder, and at times displays challenging
behaviours, She has very limited verbal communication, although she has developed
her own vosabufary of sounds and signs by which she commmumicates. She nses
Makaton and pictures to help in her sommunication. 1 am also told that she has
developed her own vocabulary of jdiosyncratic signs which ere not necessattly
consistent with formal Makaton, and thus there is room for misunderstanding of her
even by thoss who are familiar with ber. Mer father asserts he has no problems ia
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sommynicating with her, and all who have observed them together appear fo support
hig view.

32.  Sho suffers fom epileptic sejzures, currently medicated as set out at C229 of volums
{ in the bundle, The comparatively recent administration of the drug called
Oxcarbazine has led to a significant improvement in the comtrol of her epilepsy, and it
is thought by many who have reported in thig case, and who have regular dealings
with her, that her comparative freedom from seizurcs has allowed her 1o develop In
many ways. In the course of these proceedings Summer J. enrlier decided that it
would not be in her interests ai fhe moment to have a Vagal Nerve Stimnulation
implant to help control those seizures. It is that operation to which 1 earlier referred in
the context of the father's attempt 1o litigate in the Chester County Cowrt. This new
medication was prescribed once that operation was ruled out. Tt is oo early for the
doctor Lo say whether or not this drng is likely to worl long-term.

Mental Health:

33.  Dr. Land was asksd ahout the jssue of HM and her mental health, and amy
 vulnerability from which she might exoeptionally suffer. He points in his written
Teport to the problems of dizgnosing specific disorders where severe leamning
disabilities are in play, although he is clear that people with such disabilities have a

much higher rate of psychieic il Iness than is found generally across the population.

34 UM currently suffers from wo obvious signs of mendal iliness, although she isin a
high risk group for future development of one. Constant pressure from a pazent with
too high an expectation of her capabilities and the consequential stress is territory in
which such a condition cen more readily appear (sec above).

What is She Like?

35, Although the formal statements filed by the parenis not surprisingly gave information
Jbout HM, she did not really come to life for me until I read the report of Dr, Land
(see above) and Ms, Welshs (instructed to report to the court a5 an independent social
worker).

36, In Ms, Walshe's report at E352 ono finds a pen picture in which cach of the parente
has described FIv, The mother, for example, deseribes her as “an absolute character
.. she has very strong opinions .., she catl be an absolute delight or an absclute
horrorl®  Her mother thought she liked structure and routine, but had a modest
capacity to aceept change and disruption, which changes often nevertheless trigger
upsatting and challenging behavionr, When in such phases HM is loud, will shriel,
shout, end bite her arm. '

37.  Inoral evidence the mother really brought her to life, describing her sense of humour,
her considersble range of interests, that she was very revrarding and affectionats apd
waa much liked at school. She had clear ways of making her wishes known to those
famnilizr with her, and was much-loved,

23
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38, The father thought her o be funeloving and interesting with a veal enjoyment of
“socialising and involvement in community and family life”, He deseribed her
engaging in eye contact, and instigating commomication. :

39, Tn addition, Ms. Walshe records her sister TM's view of her as “engaging ... people
love her.” TM also recognised her sister’s capacity to be a handful to deal with.

40, Many others have of course commented upon her, both fom. their professional
perspective and from theix cocial one. I shall refer again to 2 particular iranche of
material presented by the father in the form of signed letters from friends. The overall
pictare is of an occasionally difficult but highly rewarding young lady. Mr. D spoke
of her gt school, and how she really enjoys the appertunity to socialise with her peers.
She has one particular friend there as fhe mother and the father recognised, and she
gets on pratty well with all of the others, She likes being thers when they have their
hatr done (althongh she appewrs not to like having her ewn touched), having her toe
nzils painted, dancing, and occasionally singing.

41.  The expert evidence overwhelmingly suggests that this much-loved young woman is
extremely Iucky in that she has access s three rich and wvastly different worlds
through her residential school, her mother and her mother's wider family ineluding

many relatives in Guemsey, and through the father's life which currently centres
stgmificantly around bis friendships al the Menorah synagogue.

Is She Jewish?

47 1 have not had to determine this issus, for heppily, in the event that I decide that HM
<hall remain at DLC or even if she were to live elsewhere, subject to logistica the
mother mekes no claim to have contact on Jewish fsstivals, thus lsaving it open to the
father to see his danghter on such ocoasions,

43 Yet the issue itself is illuminating. The mother js not Jewish, and the father is, The
mother #dopts 2 classical tubhinical posture in saying that Jewishness passes only
thrangh the mother, and accordingly EM is not Jewish, The father referred me to &
letter from the Rabbi of his synagogue indicating ks view that since HM had bean
brought up in an houschold with & Jewish father, where Jewish ritnals were followed
amd Jewish festivals honoured, and where BM had been aitending with her father the
Menorah synagogne for some comsiderable time, he regardsd FIM 23 J swish.

44.  Evenif [ had been invited to determine this jssue I could not have done so on the basis
of tis evidemce, but es eatlier mentioned conflict on almast every issue simmers
away beneath the surface,

45. 1 have had the advantage in this case of o number of reports prepared by a variety of |
different experts. As @ result of a hearing in the summer of this ysar the Officlal
Solicitor was given leave to instruct expert/s, and in the event he chose to nstruetl .
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two: Dr, MNicholas Land, (Consultant Psychiatrist) and Ms. '‘Walshe {(a Seeclal Work
expert).

A6.  The father considered, and the court on n4™ Fuly 2008 subsequently approved luis
ides, that T needed the advantage of reports from an sducational psychologist, an
occupetional therapist, and a gpeech and language fherapist (also to be instructed by
the Official Solicitor), I have received all that information. I shall refer from time-to-
tme in the balance of this judgment to those experis and their opinlons, whilst
reminding myself that sxperts do not decide cases, but are there 1o cffer assistance to
fudges, :

Speech Therapy:

47.  Tivst I turn to the report of Ms, Chesters, the speech and language fherapist above
ceferred to. Part of her concluding summary reads as follows: :

“1) Althongh it would appear she has made s0me Progress
stnce attending the DLC, the approaches do not peem to have

" ween ochesive or even fully understood by all those in contast
with hex. :

- i) HM requires & consistent and more specific
commmmication approach that will facilitate consistent and
effective commurdcation regardless of whomsoever she g with,

" where she is or what she wishes to communieate about.

1ii) HM requires ongoing speech and langusge therapy,
comprising direct therapy sessions with her as well as 2o
integrated training package for all those in HM's life, especizlly
family and the intermediate ataff who 'will be working with her.

iv) In spite of her significant speech, langnage,
commurication difficulties and coexisting problems, she has
the capacity to asquire new skills and further develop her
independent living skills given the optimal input and & unified
and consistent approach.” (sic).

48,  Tiis of some concern to M, Chesters that thers uppears to be an absence of base-lme
reporting in the cass of EM from which one might measure subsequent development.

49,  The matters identifle¢ above reflect long-standing concemns by the father &s to the
paturs and goality of the sexvices offered by DLC to HM. For example, he spoke of
rmistaken identification of signs/symbols by members of staff, causing them (either
through carelessness or ignorance) o mis-understand HM end/or confuse her as to
s1Znage.

RS
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Psychological Evidenge:

B0,
51.
52.
53,
54,
55,

56.

57,

S8,

Tn a careful and detailed report prepared at the direction of the court by Mr. Hughes
(Chartered Educational Psychologist) it is werth noting some particular aspects of his
summazy.

KM’s general fugetioning is in the age range of & two to thres year old. It is Mr.
Hughes’ view that her speech and communication skills are below this level although
he notes that certain of her physical skills are mors developed, Her social awarensss
is in some imstances almost age-appropriate in terms of her interests.

He notes (without criticism) fhat her educational progress sinee attending DLC has
been limited, but not unexpectedly.

He would advise that “the principle focus of her leatning is on the developing of her
commniinication skitls”, a view shared by all others. '

He notes in particular that HM “needs to move from provision aimed at children to
provision aimed at adults”. See below for the opinion of Dr, Land to similar effect.

It is his view that the “college” environment is lkely to be best-equipped to deliver

 the lind of educational and social development progranwmes which he considers

advisable {as da all others).

e nevertheless (in reference to DLC) suggests that “a Jess conventional appreach”
certainly in relation to activities and the location of them might be more effactive. To
that extent T was interested in the evidence of Mr. D, supported as it was by the
evidence of the mother, to the effect that social arrangements are made off-campus, so
that FIM and her peers regularly go out into the community for entertainment and
cducative visits enriching and supplementing life on campus.

T ehall further consider the evidence of Dr. Land and Ms. Welghe when consicering
opticis.

DL.C: The Proposal:

1et me look first at the proposal of the Official Selicitor an behalf of HM. It iz
supported by the rnother (although see below for Forther commentery on the full
extent of her proposals) and Guerneey.

DLC (School}:

59,

650,

EXM has been at DLC (school) since November 2003, Her foes are pald by Guernsey
on zn oul-of jurisdiction placement. Theywill continne, if that is y decision, for a
period at least to fund HM on transition 1o DLC (college).

IOV has been living in 2 small residential house with other young people. She las her
own room (although the repott of the occupational therapist instructed by the court

B
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suggests that there are deficiencies in the amramgements within it bearing in mind
HM’s digabilitics). ] note in passing that the father points to these deficiencies, and
mekes it clear that these obvious short-falls in standards do pot exist in the provision
he has made for his daughter at his own home,

51,  The sccommodation provided by the school is on fhe same cammpus as the buildings
set aside for education and other actvitics. Neverthelesy, as noted slsewhers, these
young people are not restricted to 2 life on campus, but go out on carefully organised
1rips into the community,

62, HM is described by Mz, D a3 being in the top 25% of pupils in temas of her general
zbility, although there are others more able than her within that catchment. She is
described as doeply rewarding to look after.

DLC (College):

63.  The College s described in considerable detail by Ms. Walshe at E353/7. 1 do not
" propose to replicate that detatl. Ihave also been shown 4 copy of the prospectus.

'§4. ~ There is residential accomamodation in small housing wmits (ell save ome being on
camnpus), and access 10 the leisure facilisies of the college, as wall as of the local
sommnmity. The school and college are essentially on the same campus, With obviaus
advantages for transition if that were to bemy decision,

65.  The syllabus is designed to lead towards a greater dsgres of autonomy on the part of
each of these young people, the programms extending over a three year period. Had
there been no dispute between the parties, HM would have commenced her college
cducation in the gutums of this year. ¥'T approve her wansition to the collegs she will
already be behind her peer group. Further, for reasons not investigated in the
‘evidanos, it is only proposed by Guemsey that she sty at the college for two years,
and accordingly she will not cornplste the full syllabus, 1 assume the rezsoning
behind this is that Guemnsey hopes to have created suitzble provision for HIM on the
Island during the next Two YBars,

DY.C/ The Father: Management of the Relationship:

66. In considering the viahility of DLC (college) I have been acutely conscious
throughout these proceedings of the lengthy history of dispute us between DLC
(School) and the father. The contiming litigation over the Data Protection Act ipsuies
shove more than illnstrates the long-standing nature of the problems between the two.
Adter what the head teacher of DLC (school) and the father deseribed as a reasonably
productive mesting to discuss the care of M the father followed up the occasion with.
7 “demand” that DLC should reveal all of its papers in rclation 1o himself. The

request caused endless disruption to the school, invelving as it did a sift of the vast -

quantity of information held by the achool, the instruction of lawyors, and
consequiential expense, The father's perception of kis request was that it was made on
legal advics, was entiroly Tewfiul (which it was) and, Iinfer, that since the relationship -
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67.

6s.

69.
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between himself and the school was 80 prickly, it was necessary for hirn to sse the
genesis of it in the written documentation, end in particular that which had been
provided to the school by Guermnsey even before the father had met with school staff.
This ipstancs ustrates sor Dr. Land, and I agree with him, a characteristic of the
father, namely that instead of building on something positive he becames corbative,

The father is cccasionally ramoderate in the adjectives he uses to describe the
organisation and sodividnale within it (for example “avil and abusive’). He told Dr.
Tand that “If she stays at the DLC it will be a criminal act”. He has spoken of it
pejoratively @s “warehousing” &nd as & ‘l“oaby-sitﬁng facility”, 1 shall refer to his
attitade on this subject again Jater. ‘ '

Thers js @ cloar meed for there to be a siracture budlt in to amy placement whish
removes DLC from the front-line of discussion as to the arrangements of every agpect
of IM’s Jife, should she remain thers.

In his latest statement of 15" August 2008, Mr. D set out what he regarded as the
asgential elements of such a framework, speaking bere as 2 represonfative of fhe
college even thongh ithas @ different Head. Those elements [ set out in full, elthough
[ shall note in square braskets afier each of themm the changes 10 them more or less

agreed by him
“protection” 80

in Mz, D’s oral evidence. 1 do so not only to sst out the nature of the
ught by DLC fom what it sees as the unwarranted, aggressive and

highly intimidating interventions of the father, but also because each aspeot of this list
ilinstrates  psst problem, and makes farther elaboration by way of extendad
examples of past Bvents WIRGCEsSATY,

a)

b)

c)

9)

«“pM is mot permitted o wmake any direct contact (by
any methad) with the Cenlre or any of its employees;
[With  the  osdditionel words  “gave  for
eroetings/farewells on the collection of HM from DLC
or the remraing of HM to DLC at the start/conclusion
of any contact visits, or polite exchanges on eccidental
meatings in the comuaunity].

PM is pernditted to provide his views snd opintons in writing to the
Centre through either Guemssy Social Services or the Offieial
Solicitor or an advocate appointed for EM, but only when invited to
do go. The Centrs to be under no obligation to respond to such
sorrespondence; [For Guemsey's social services there should be
subetituted “the cars co-ordinator” — see below.]

The Court vwill determine all contact between HM and ‘hor
parents/family members/their fiends, save for exceptiondl or
smergency circumstances when quch comtact will be determined by
the Centre; [Before the existing temt the words “irr the event of
disapreerent between the mother and father” shall be ingerted]. '

Assuming that comtact between PM and HM will be supported by
fernale carers - PM shall not aftend at the Centre’s premises, save for
comtact with M in exceptional/emergency circumstances  as
determined by the Centre (such arrangements to be determined by the
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Centre). (Contact between PM and HM on &ny other occasion will be
facilitated by agemcy oarers collesting and tehsming HM); [This
provision shall be struck out in {ts entirety].

The Centre will facilitale M making telephone calls to PM. PM i3
not permitted to telephons the Centrs and {s not pormiited to raise any
jasues with staff during these telephone calls; [The followlng words
chall be added “Where the permitted Tuesday telephone call from HM
to PM does not take place, the staff of DLC will facilitate/encourage
HM to call PM en another day].

PM shall not take any steps 1o prejudice FIM's placement, frcluding
that he will not harass employses of the Centre by any means; [Beiore
deleting this condition, Mr. D wished to consult with athers at DLC],

PM shall not tape any convessations with fhe Centre’s employses or
Fd; [No glieration].

P will not take any proceedings against the Centre, on his own
bel%alf or on behalf of HM, without permission of this Court; {Mr. D
was undecided as to the zmbit of {his. Ms. Richards Indicated that in

. Ver closing submissions she would outline what the Official Solicitor

submits ere the necessary and appropriate inhibitions, if any. and the
court’s powers to finpose them — see below].

Subject to appropriate information being pravided to this Court, PM’'s
Data Protection Act claim agafnst the Centre (Case Number 6MC
00609) be siruck out; [This condition is struck out). '

PM shall mot discuss HM's placement or meke any comment
regarding the Centre with any section of the media or in public; [The
fhrust of the substitution is that “PM shall not make any defamatory
commorts about the centre nor its staff to zny section of the media).

The Centre shall liaise only with K¥ and/or any guardian or court
depnty appoinied in relation to al] matters concerning HM’s medical
sondifon, heslth, care, welfare, education and religion; [For the
words “court deputy appointed” substitute “oars co-prdinator” — see
below. ]

Recognition by all parties that the only rols the Centre plays in OM’s
life is as provider of College Services and that the Centre is not an
interested party in the decisions taken by family and agencies about
parental access, custody, advocacy, visiting rights or any other aspect
of HM's life outside of the provision of care and accommodation at
the Centre, [This condition should in fact be a recital to any order I
malka].

There will be no additional demends placed upon the Centre by
family or other agenciss, other thun the provision of a 38 weck
College placement, and, if purchased under a separate contract, respite
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cars during the holday period; [This provision likewise, shall be &
recital to any order I make].

0} The commissioning authority agrees to pay all dirsot und indircot
costs associated with the plasemeit, including the time taken by the
Head of Collsge, the CEO or any other employee of the Cenfre to
respond to demands over and gbove what would be considered as
normal for a Clollege or Tespite placement; [This is mot an appropriate
condition, not relating to PM, but is instead to be a matter of
nogotiation betweern Guemsey and DLC, and thus can be deleted}.

o) The conmmissioning authorily agrees to pay any future costs erising
out of any legal mction in the future by FPM against the Centre, its
Dirsctors, officers and staff; [This provision likewise is a maiter for
contractual discussion between Quemsey amd DLC and should be
deleted).

P) The plzcement would be reviewed quarterly by the Centrs and

. terrninated immediately if the conditions are not being met.” [The

word “immediately” to be deleted and substituted with the words
ollowing a period of reagonable notice].

On 769 July 2007 PM gave undeniakings to the court (see the order of Summer 1, of
thet date), The undertakings wers that he should dirset any correspondence 10 DL.C
through their salicitors, that he should not attend DLC other than for the purpose of
collecting and/or returning HM on occasions of contact or “for purposes anciilary to
contsct or by written invitation”, that he shall pot take any steps “to prefudice HM's
placement at DLC," and that he ghall not tape any conversations with members of
DLC or HM.

It is the father’s position that he should be released frowm his undertakings, and that
fhere should be no conditions of any lind, His reason for so submitting is that if M
should remain at DLC, there should be a fresh start s between DLC and the father in
a climate of mutual respect and tolerance, and thersfore it is wholly inappropriate for
gquch yndertaldngs/conditions to be in place, He also mads if clear that in his view itis
assential that there be equality of opportunity as between the ranther and the father for
family life in all its aspects, including coming and gomg on the campus (which. is
offectively HM's home) and the current raft of proposed conditions/inhibitions relate
only to imself, I indicated in the courss of exchanges that I would regard the
father’s comments on the subject of undertakings to Summer J. as an implisit
application to discharge those undertakings without necessity of issuing a formaal
surnmons to that effect.

‘Whilst T entirely understand the intellectual point he makes, his proposals seem to me
to leave out of accotmt the history of so many fraught years, end the belief on the part
of DLC (rightly or wrongly) that they need these pratections against the father’s
behaviour hefore they can consider offering HM a place, and in the absence of thera

. theve would be no place.

T have no doubt at all that the condiiions (subject to smodest alteration-see below) set
out in the draft orders/declarations provided by Miss Richards with her closing
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qubmissions, ere both necessary and appropriate in this case. The modest alteration |
would make to the conditions set out by Miss Richards relates to her propased order
nurabered 11 where she refers to the father not making auy “inflammatory or highly
derogarory comment” about the DLC. My clear note of the evidenes coincides with
the father's recollection that the appropriale wording was ‘“PM ghall not make
defamatory commments about the DLC™, T prefer this fatter wording.

The father in his oral evidence was pactiouladly exercised by the verb “harass” in
order qurnber 9. Insofer ss harassment imports intimidation I conslder it a necessary
condition and approve it

Paragraph 13 of her propossd order reads: “No farther proceedingg relating to HM's
best interests shatl be brought in the courts of Hnglend and Wales save with the
pormission of the High Court or the Court of Protection”. As she points out in her
foot-mate in relation to this order, any future proceedings relating to HMM’s best
interests would fall within the umbrella of the Menial Capacity Act 2003,
Applications made by PM or KH would nced the leave of the court in any event. T
approve this proposal. '

I deciding that these conditfons are required I have taken into account (albeit the

 Fathior continues to dispute these matters) the findings of the Guernsey courts (which I

do mot go behind) as to his way of going about the world, the comments of Dr. Land,
as to PM’s manper of dealing with others (see below) end my own experience of
observing bim in the courtroom as a litigant not only in his owa cause but also in
HM's, in a manner which T have commented upon slsewhere.

The inherent juriediction is an innately flexible one, but not without limit, The raft of
proposed conditions in my judgment falls easily within the proper exercise of that
jurisdiction to provide in HM’s paramount interests the necessary protection to securs
her placement at DLC (College), :

On 26 July 2007 the mother alsa gave an undertaking to the court relating to the
provigion of medical treatment 10 HM. Although she has not specifically requested
flant T discharge that undertaking, I do so on the basis that the proposed orders provide
all necessary safeguards and protections, and the undertaking is now otiose, end, as is
pointed out in her closing submissions by Miss Richards, not consistent with the
current state of the law, Under the Mental Capacity Act 2005 the treatment of
mentally incapacitered adalts is now approached by health professionals charged with
foe care of such an individual on the basis of the framework provided by the 2005
Act. Whilst health professionals tmay consider whetasr or not the father and/or the
mother “consent” to any treatment, such consents &re not determinative. -

Finally, in relation to Miss Richards' draft order, I nots in paragraph 20 a suggestion
that this court showld review muatters in six to nine month’s time. I profoumdly
disagree. In the course of the doctomentation, the oral evidence and the closing
submissions, a great desl of time and endeavour has been expended in setting up
structures for the proper resolution of these issues outwith the forensic arena, I
decline to instjtutonalise s firther hearing which is more likely than not, in my
judgment, to distract from, and/or subver, the establishrnent and proper working of
the structures discussed below,
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Care Co-ordinator/Multidisciplipary Meetings,

81.

g2.

46) *Dr Land proposes [B312] that HM’s case should be
professionally care coordinated in a similar way as would oceur

*if she was being cage managed by an Englich local authoriry.

In bis view she should have an experienced, professional care

. coordinator. This individual would be the conduit for
comnunication between the DLC (College) and HM's parents

and vice versa. Regular mulii-disciplinary, multi-agency care

soordination ‘meetings should be held at which all relevant -

parties shonld be represented, Given the complexity of HM’s
problems, the care coordinator might well decide to manage
them within the structure provided by the Care Programme
Approach‘. These rocetings would serve to review HM’s
progress, monitor tramsitional plamming and resolve any
difficulties which may have arisen with respect to contact. The
meeting would include HM’s advocate and, for those parts
which they deemsd relevant to therselves, the DLC College.
Where concerns are raiged by either parent (or any othier party)
they should be brought to the care coordinator for discussion at
the next meeting (or for the cate coordinator’s action if they are
urgent).”’ :

47) "Pr Land goes on to say “Tt would bs my view that PM
should be clearly representsd at these meetings and that he
should be able to receive the same health and educational
informetion as XH. However it would be setting up the system
(amd PM) up to fail if he was to attend these meetings fom
their commencement. His enduring anger with the other
pirties; his deep sense of injustice; his sxpectation of problems;
hls difficulity in resolving one issus without resolving all issues,
all mitigate against success” Dr Land recommends that PM
should be appropriately reprosented at such mieetings by a

Save for ihe sbove matters, | here apprave the doclarations and orders suggested by
Miss Richards in her drafl, althongh my dieoussion of the advantages and
disadvautages of DLC (College) and my conclusions based on them appear below.

Dostor Land, in his report of §th October 2008, addresses the issue of the father's
manner of dealing with professionals, and suggests a possible way of structuring
future discussions to avoid past battles whilst allowing the father a proper part in their
consideration,

The Official Solicitor, in his Teport of 28® Qctober 2008 swomarises Dr, Land’s
views md recommendations in paragraphs 46 and 47 of his report at C271/2 of
volums 1, T can do no better than to quote the relevant paragraphs which suceinctly
idenfify the problems and the proposed resolution of them.
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professional advocale who should be an experienced social
worker end in his view CY could be an appropriate person io
fulAI this Tole, He recommends that DT, as & Guernsey social
worker who is bused fdr & significant part of the time in the
United Kingdom, should act as care co-ordinator.”

(1. I (the Official Solicitar) wchderstand that the GPA focuses on 4 key elements 1o
ensure delivery of uppropriale care! (1) a thorough and systemalic assessment of
health and social care needs; (B) a deratled written care plan of needs, done with the
person’s involvemend, and with the imvolvement and agreement of all those {nvolved
in thelr care; (3) the appointment ¢f 4 care coordinaior! key worker who is
responsible for maniloring of services delivered under the care plan; and (4) regular
reviews, so any changes needed can be made.]

A number of witnesses, Dr. Ldnd in particular, have veferred to ihs father’s powerful
psychologieal impact, Over the years, many heve found him extremnoly difficult to
nepotiate with. Yet others, for exemuple Mr T (the independent socinl worker who (on
a sub-contracting basis) has been making arrangements for HM ang her care o1l behalf
of Guemnsey, and Mr. A (the manager of adult disability services for the Istand of
Guernsey). recognise the father's capaciy 10 dorninate a mesting, and have found

' discussing issues with him to be at times extrerely challenging (both as to conient of

the meeting and as to the merner of his conducting a4 meeting), yet have pevertheless
been gble to sonduct negotiations face-to-face.

My. CY (also an independent social worker, and a fiend of the father's) who has the
respect of al) those who have had dealings with him in this case, has been consulied as
to whether or not he would take a role as father’s advocate, He has declined to attend
without the father for underst dable reasons. As thé father indicated to me, although
he did not use this precise terminology, the proposal is flawed for the very obvieus
reasom fhar at a multi-disciplinary meeting & number of subjects may arise for
consideration and how is CY to know the views of PM an each and every one of
them? Ts he to take desisions without consultation with PM? What are the logistics
of such mn arrangement? Whilst 1 well-understend the basis for suggesting this way
forward in my view it would simply not worle,. What may well Wwork, subject to
funding issues (for PM made the point that whilst Guernsey ars offering travel
expenses and disbursements for C°Y they are mot offering to pay his fees, and why
should CY do this for free on frequent and regular oocasions?) is if CY would agree to
accompenylng PM to such meetings. Since all who have dealt with him find him
perceptive and open to disonssion it is, in my view, highly desirable thet CY should
attend {at least untl 2 less cdmbative negotiating style is adopted by the father).

1 have just used the word toombative” for whether he realises it or pot that is the
irnpression he gives. 1 agree with the description of Dr. Land that he is & very
powerful psychological pers onality. 1have had the epportunity of watching him aver
thres days. He is, if I may say 80 swithout patronage, highly intelligent, highly
orzanised, and furthermore relentlessly obsessive. He has a great command of dates,
subjcots, reports and myriad details. Unhappily, this combination, (2s Dr. Land has
been ohserved to note abdvs), distracts, and what is needed is focug on a limited
ancnber of issues ar each syich meeting, A good Hllustration of flie trait identified by
Dr, Land of thig father requirng all matters be resolved at once (or at least on the
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tsble for discussion at once) is the list of subjects which he wished this court to
congider 2t this hearing. They ranged far and wide from the great to the less great in
significance. He has a wholly mmressonable expectation of what can and cannot bs

achivved at amy one time.

The Officlal Solisitor has recommended (sea above) that Mr. T would be a suitable
co-ordinator of such mestings., He was agked about this proposed réle in oral
ovidence, and undsrstandably wished to discuss the matter further with Guemnsey, for
the r8le proposed has as yet no clear job description (as well a9 no clear offers of
remumeration avd tepms and conditions). ‘Furthermors, Mr, T pow spends &
proportion of his year in Spain, and it is more lkely than not that & new co-ordinator
would have to be selected in the medinm term glven M. T's plans for his own future.

- dvecate;

These proposalg also import the notion of an advocate for M. At one stage sOmne
consideration was given to en IMCA, although on an anslysis of the relevant statutary
provisions conceming the duties of any IMCA this no longer seems appropriate.

What is appropriate is 2 specifically recruited advocate For M from the ranks of
experienced independent Guardians ad Litem (for example from NAGALRO), o5
from the National Youth Advisory Service. Guernsey would propese 1o meet the fees
for such an advosate. The job would be 2 medivm to long-term one, for such an
advocate wonld have to devote comsiderable vims, skill and care to establishing ¢
relarionship with M so as properly to reflect HM's views, her nseds, ete, I approve
the proposed sppointment subject to proper recruitiment,

Cther Options:

As ig by mow abundantly clear, | epprove the proposal that M should move to BLC
(College), However, given the nature and extent of the problems which this case
throws up for consideration, in my judgment T would be defaulting in nuy duty if { did
not in fhis already overly long documment set out my views on the other

options/variants.

The Mother’s Proposals:

90.

In her position statement of 4% Tuly 2008, and the latest one of 20" October 2008 the
mother sets out her suggestions for the future cave of HM. She develops her theme in
her discussions with Dr. Land recorded in his report at E220/21.

First, she supports the transition of HM from DLG (School) to the College.

She considers that the cwrent comtact arrangwments as betwesn Hiv and the father,
and HM and herself, should remain in place. I note at thiz point that she sees HM
regulerly and frequently, but on visits only, save for family holidays in Guecnsey
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when EM stays with her. The usual pattern is for the mother o visit and/or take HM
out on a Sunday afternoon for & number of hours, returning her to DLC at ghout
7:00pm. In addition, she can telephone as and when she wishes, unlike the father's
restricted weekly telephone eontact referred to above.

{tis her medium-term wish that FM should maks her home in Guernsey inl 2 small
supporicd-living setting. 1m @ documment prepared on behalf of Guernsey it is pre-
figured that there may, in dus course, be such a factlity although the funding is not yet
in place, and for pay part 1 consider that realistically in viewing the foreseeable future
I should not assume that such a facility will be available.

Iz fhe interim, she speaks of & “hespoke provision” in Guernsey which wauld involve
making available smell rented accomuodation, support fom the Guemasey learning
disubility staff, and a [l care package. There would meed 1 be mput by &
neurologist, but that would have to be an off-island service for there ia nope on the
island iteelf. In the course of his wide-yanging enquiries, Dr. Land comsulted with Ms.
Lisa Welker who mauy years before had worked with Guernsey health and social
services department. As it happens che has known HM since she was about 6 or 7
yeers old. Ms. Walker was quite olear to Dr, Land that it would not “currently be in
TIM’s best interests to have 2 rexjdential placement in Guernsey. She has previously

‘worked m the Guemsey lezming disability service for adults and recognises that

currently they would not be sble o meet HM's needs”. Whilst Ms, Walker felt that
Guemsey should be developing & purbose built service for HM, neither she nor I
(raying heard Mr, A} could put & time-scale on it Qle was nevertheless clear thet
1M sheuld be encouraged to visit Guemssy for the purposss of social and familial
contact and activities, and that in due course (1 presume long-term) HM should retwn
io the Island. It is she who gave me a picture of & typical day for HM when she is
there on holiday, going to the beach, cycling, or on a boat. There would often be
family meals in the evening, with much to enjoy and many familiar friendly feces to
se8.

Mr, A (service manager-see ghove) gave me & rather different view, describing a day-

centre which HM could attend for six howrs each day Monday to Friday, & college of
further education which might asccept her, (although I mote this college 18

predomingntly for those not disabled in the way M is) and ancillary servicss. The

day centre itself has one fll-time spacch fherapist, bup given that there are o

significent number of aendecs it 1s not likely that M would receive anything like

the current level of support she receives at DLC, Whilst I do not doubt that the fsland

endeavours to provide as full a range of services as its budget will permis, T did not,

without disparaging any of the valuable work they do, get the impression that the high

levels of support curtently enjoyed by HM in each avea of her life at levels which she

needs, would currently be availabie fo her o the Island, If that impression (eoquired

from M. T and Mr. A) is wrong then 1o doubt should this case ever unhappily retumn
to court | will receive svidence about the range of those facilifies with specific

reference to & tatlor-made programme for M. I did not get the impression, and again
1 venmre this without eriticism, that a careful mapping of needs in relation

rosources had yet been undertaken. Furthermore, I have to take account of the fact

that EIM is not the only young person who needs such services on the Island from a

limited budget.
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She also refereed in that doocument to alternative residential college placements in
England, being of the view at the time of writing that the DLC (collegs) had
withdrawn its offer of a placement to HM in the light of the longistanding troubles
with the futher. : .

\f none of thoss options can be achieved, she suggests both in that{document and in
ler oral svidence that HM could return, even in the short-term, to her family home in
Guernsey Wwith support from the learning disability cere team ete. The mether’s
current degree studies (in Manchester) do not end until Tune 2009, plthough in order
to care for AM, if this were the choice of the court, she would sffempt to finish it
whilst living on the island, She told mo in her oral evidence that |her course tutors
were sympathetic to her dilemma, and by 3 combination of correspandence and/or the
provision of an cn-island tutor, or in defanlt of either of those optibns via the Open
University, che might still finish her degres studies, She would prefer, however, ifat
21l possible that she should stay in Manchester for the duratioR, probably then
returning to the Island to work ¢s a social worker after next summer.

She is vehement in her apposttion to tho father having the care of HM, In her lengthy
list of purported disqualifications of him set out in he positian statements, and

_elaboratsd upon in an interview with Dr. Land and her orel evidence, she refers to:

| ) The father's failure to accept the seriousness of HM's epilepsy, he having

a{legedly suggested at one stage that K was suffering from Munichhansen’s
Syndrome by ProXxy.

i) His failure to wnderstand the extent and natire of her learni disability, The
father does not give HM sufficient structure, he having unressonzbly high
expectations of her proficlency and potential. The absence of structure makes
HM very anxious and difficult to calm.

{if)  She says that he does nat understand HM’s emotional development. She
suggests that PM is not flexible, ind only does whataver he wishes rather than
taking full and proper account of HM's choices, T

Jooking zfter HM as provided by extermal support gtaff He has difficulty
meintaining relationships with professionals, and that even if he chose the
professionals to be involved with HM there would ultimately be a breakdewn
in commurication.

iv)  She pointa to the probable breakdown of any attempt to sup%ort the father in

V) She antieipates HM being brought up in an atmosphere “of voatinual conflict
and without the consisteney of support and care that she needs”,

vi)  She noted that the father is now 60 and, as Dr. Land has himself observed, his
physical powers will inevirably diminish over uime, and mmuch endeavour
which he now takes for granted will sixply not be possible for him.

vil)  She does mot believe that it is appropriate for PM f¢ be carrying out the
intimate care of their daughter, I shall retuen to this subject in morc detail in
due course, for it has been the subject of extensive commentary, and indsed
differences of opinion as botweey the experis.
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Thus in summary, her preferences are:
1) M to go to DLC (College).

ii) tu defanlt HM to return to Guemsey to live with her in the femily horme (with
a reduced pattern of contact to the father, who would logistically not be sble to
soe FIM weekly as he does now),unless and until, in the medium to long-term,
her proposals ag set out above can be put in place.

he Father’s Proposals:

100,

101.

102,

103,

At the heart of them lies his profound and gepuine wish to care for HM in his own
home. There was some faint suggestion in the papers that the father had beem
rehuctant to describe the nature and extent of his accommedation. However, although
he does not deal with it himself in his own statements, Ms. Walshe had asked him
about it and he gave oral evidence. It would appear that he has a three bed-roomed
bungalow (although that is currently in a state of disrspalr following # flood and is
upinhabitable). He has meanwhils rented a three bed-roomed property with
accommiodation which he would deseribe as entirely suitable to meeting the needs of

" HM and hmeslf.. When be returng to his own restored home he would suggest an

extension lo provide semi-independent living for M and her carors, He speals of, in

‘dne cowrse, leaving it to hier in trust for her sole occupation (plus her carers I imagine)

on his death.

The mother states that he has historically failed to provide details of his situation,
whether hs is in employment ox reliant upon State bensfits, and how he would provide
for HM if he were to be her full-time carer. He told me in evidence that his Srances
were “complicated” but that the monsy would be there for such work to be done, I
chose not to investigate his finances, but for working purposes assume this to be so
without malking findings.

I his first witness statement of 4™ July 2008 the father was directed (by sarlier order)
to set ont his case, In fact the bulk of that document (excluding the 30 plus pages of
exhibite) is devoted o aesertions of what the law oiight o be doing in this case fo
uphold the rights of HM, ostensibly supported by abreviated summaries of research
information, and requests to the court to read large quantity of documentation from
past years of fitigation in Guemsey.

By way of example he says this:

“In short, HM should be able to aspire to living a Iifs as a
young adult where she is inherently jncluded in social
networks, communily based living, educative environments and
family relationships. These factors are fundamental to HM's
need to live in the least restrictive emviromment which her
disability indicates and permits”, ‘

There then follows a list of “aspirations” for HM which it I8 unnecessary to set out,
but which do not advance the informational base for assessment of hiz practical
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proposzls. He ends that statement with what amovnts to a complaint that he has been
styniied in progressing referrals without leave of the court or with the agreement of
other parties,

His second statement of 24™ July 2008 sets out documentation describing his contact,
and the observations of those who have seen him with HM in the wider community.
Tt does not deal with educational or home cars provision.

Following a dircctions hearing befors Parker 1. on 24" October 2008, he was aiven
until 7 November 2008 to file a firther statement. He 8id so, filing 24 page
staternent with appendices on. that dafe, and attending court on the 4" Novernber 2008
with a further 1§ page statement and some hundreds of pages of exhibits. In the body
of thet unpaginated documentation. ! find the latest witness statement of CY dated 1%
November 2008. I have referred to the necessary part of that docwnent already.

Although he had spoken in carlier statements of necessary enquiries into relevant
educational provision for HM, 1t was not o) his statement of 277 November 2008
that his proposals were clarified. However, even if he has there nominated for her
specific .edycational  TesDUWIGS, it 4s olear thet ecach -of the welevani
instititions/organisations requires the orovision of extensive rsports on HM as & pre-

" eursor to any further necessary asgcssInents (residential or otherwise). In other words

there is ourrently no altermative to DLC (College) on offer.

Tn part, as with other statements/position statements/his oral evidence, the required
information es to proposals ig interlaced with historical criticisms of past actions on
the pext of Guernsey, the mother, DLC and its staff, the independent experts in this
case, the Official Sclicitor ete,

He asserts that DLC (Collsge) has “a finapeial imiotest in the outcome of these
proceedings end faces a deoline in the mumber af long-term residential placements
....° (Mr. D confisming in his oral evidence that there was indeed a declining roll). I
infer from that that PM is suggesting entirely commercial motives on the part of DLC
in offering a plase to M. Thave noted bove his vituperative commients to Dr. Land
on DLC, end his refusal to acknowledge the essential confribution DI.C hes made to
FiNs development,

The father notes that Broughton House College (a possibls alternative to DLC put .

forward by Guernsey) does not havs places until at least May 2003, Mr. T spoke of
his half-day vigit to this college, and how {mpreseed he was by it. He was not at the
time made aware that there would be no place uniil at least May, but from the father’s
avidence it appears any such space may be dependent npon the conclusion of building
work. Althotgh he had examined the syllabus, and met with staff and some of the
pupils, it is not surprising that Mr. T had notcarried out peer group aralysis in order
to gange where HM might fit in. 1do not criticise Mr, T for that, for it seems fo me
that that is stage two of a more sophisticated appraisal which that college (if
approached further) would undertake in the light of &l the necessary reports on HM.

Fle further notes that Guernsey have not reported on Ravenswood Village which he
put forward ss an option in 2003, though Guernsey refused to fipd it and which he
appeared to suggest might even now be appropriate, although not, | consider, with any
real degres of enthusiasm, for in his closing submissions he suggested that it would be
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a “catustrophe™ for HM 10 move so far gway from all 5hc KNUWS, including the homes
of ler mother and fasher.

His pogitivg options, having ventured thoss eriticisims, ars baged on the Fundamental
position that IM should live with him.

e refers to Langdon College and Bridge College as possible suitable educational
provision. It ia not altogether clear to me from the reference in peragraph 6 of this
staternant as to whether or not Langdoty and Bridge are in fact residential communities
rather than she providers of day care, although in his oral evidence he confinned that
both undoubtedly had day provision and are reasanably near to his horae,

There is a passing reference to other cstablishments visited in the last eight years,
inclnding The National Cenwe for Young People with Epilepsy School and College.
Beyond those pessing references there is no particulerisation.

As to Bridge College, this is a day college which he visited in the course of May
~007. He was ippressed by it, and was umder the impression that those sttending
were very similar to FM. He told me in oral evidence that he hiad met with many of
the pupils, looked at-their work and the books/tools they were using end hed reached

' fhis broad conclusion on that hasis.

Langdon College is based in Manchester, Apart from. information of the most general
aature as to the facilities and pass-times on offer there, and a brief summary of bis
visit to the college, whers he met ataff and studsnts and the Bo ard of Governors, The
only further information of assistance in considering it 48 2 TESOUTCO COIMES from two
sources. He quotes zu exiract from a leiter sent to him by the Principal indicating that
apart from the necessary appleation form it is “essential that we have a copy of EIM's
Statement of Educational Needs, an up-to-date school report, speech and language
assessment  and  cccupational  and physiotherapist reports, an educational
psychologist's repor, and a current medical eport”, Fartly no dowbt by virtus of the
iohibitions on providiog such documentation without leave of the court, none of this
has been provided to the callege 10 fyrther any anticipated application, Nor, as I
anderstand it has the father ever mads.2 formal application to the court for the release
of such documentation to them. :

Tha second source of additional information about Lengdon College comes from Mrs.
W. She had attended initielly in the guise of a second Mckenzie Friend, but on the
firet moming of the hearing it was cstablished that the fether would wish to call her as
a witness both as to his relationship with HM (she already having provided 2
tsstimonial) and to say something of Langdon College she being a governor. I
required her statement of evidence 1o be in writing. She accordingly withdrew and
produced a manuseript documnent Jater that day. I admitied her stafement but in the
light of its comteny, particularly her stnphasis on the need for extensive urther
assessments including a residentin] assessiment of HM, did not feel it necessary to hear
wer oral evidence. Blowsver, 1 accept, as T have done in relation to all the testimontals
from the father’s frlends and acquaintances, patticularly thoss who know him well
fromm the Menoreh Synagogue, that he is a devoted and loving father to HM.

Despite his frequently ventilated criticismg of DLC and its educetional provision Tor
MM, in the course of his evidence/submissions he made it clear that if there was no
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altermative provision available, he would accept HM's attendamce at DLC (Colloge)
on & dayrinie basis only, she returning to his.hémé each night. DLC do, I note, have
provisiorn. in their syllabug for day attendarice. Whether or not the father’s apparent
concession is based vpon an implicit recognition that DLC do offer mors or less
appropriete provision cducationally, or was simply offered on the grounds of
expediency, I was not entirely clear.

He refers 1o “Jewish Ethos aud Culture Local Resources”, which he describes as “a
key element of support in rmaiptaining 2 culturally appropriate service in line with
Orthodox Jewish Bthos and Culture” (sic). [t ig not clear to e whether or not this is
proposed as a support orgamisation suppletrentary 1o other educational provision, or
an option in ftself,

e then proposes “carer” support varying “fom the casual to complete waking 24
howr nursing cars”, Haviag referred to the peneral nature of the suggested provisions
he then states that cach would Tequirs to conduct their own risk assessment beforc
they would consider providing services for HM,

His fall-back pogition is that if no cuitzble educational placement can be found for the
batenice of the current academic year, he would tutor HM at home, and his own
endeavours wotld be supporied by &b independent specialist speech and langoage
therapist, and “such other resources and interventions as are deemed to be in HM's
best imterests”. He poinis to Guerasey or 0me other unspecified local zuthority in
Englind and Walss to pay for these services. | consider below sources of payment.

Asg 1o home care he refers to “Helping Hands Home Care”, a family run business
based in Warwickshire providing; “Reliable inovative quality home care servioes
fipet strive to exceed custorner’s expectations and enable customers 1o exercise cholce
in their daily lives. To promote dignity and quality of life .....” This organisation
apparently covers England and "Wales providing “live-in care” and presumably other
variants falling short of live-in care, He algo refers to an organisation called Prestige
Hame Care s providers of similar services,

A final part of his proposed support s the introduction into his home of & Tsraeli au-
pair, preferably & female to assist in intimate care taske, and at lsast 24 years of age.

Tt was not clear to me upon reading the papers whe sherald be the payor for all these
services. Guemsey have declined to pay for anyihing other than DLC College, the
appointment of & care co-ordinator, and an advocate. I discuss below their reasoning.
No Iocal authority has been approached 28 2 potentiel provider. The costa of such
care would be siznificant.

Services: Who Shonld Pay?

124,

As Ms. Richards points out in a supplementary note dated 2" November 2008, filed
ir1 zosponsae to such, proposals as have been pade by the father, thexe are a number of
problems over identifying a payor.
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Guernsey have stated that they view £IM as a “Guemsey patient” even though she has
lived in the UK. on a 52 week per year placement. They have contimued to fund her
care pravision (approximately £180,000 per apnum) along with incuwring £3 5,000
worth of legal costs plus disbursenents.

They furthey point ow that vnlike a local anthority inBngland and Wales which has 2
care order or & declaration of best intersgts, there is no over-riding power on fheir part
to mauke decisions relating 1o Hb’s care.

1 have earlier noted the strueture of the Guernsey court’s provision which appoints the
rrother as “curateur”/ sole guardien, thns charging her with malking major decisions
relating o HM’s medical condition, health, care, welfare and education ete. (subject
now of course in relation to medical care to the order of Sumney J. of 26™ July 2007).

I have been provided with a transcription of exchanges between McFarlane J. and Mr,
Nicol-Gent, counsel appearing for Guernsey at a hearing i June this year, Atpage 14
of the transcript Mr, Nicol-Gent conceded that whilst thers was no community care
legiglation in CGuernsey dealing with adults, and thus no stafutory obligation upon.
Guemsey to pay for servicss for M now that she is 18 plus, Guernsey accepted that
by custom they had accepted responsibility i such cases and would fund the

' pecessary placement. -

It ie the current stance of Guernsey, however, that i the event that HM poes to live
with her father they would no longer be responsible, financially or otherwise, for her,
and they would not fund additienal care costs.

1 was puzzled by their -easoning at frst for it was imitially sheir case that if HM goes
to live with her father full-time, (or come to that her mother full-time) in England,
then she will no longer be treated a8 domiciled in Guemsey znd would therefore no
longer be their respomaibility. 1 had no expert evidence to help me on the way they
congrrned the law in relation to domicile, but it seemed to me that sincs she has been
regarded as being domiciled in Guernsey for the whole of her life, end currently is so
regarded, yet has lived in England on a yearround basis for the last five years, it was
not open to Guernsey to suggest that by virtue of z different address for her habitual
residence in England she would lose her doroicile. This preliminary position weas,
upon questioning by me, withdrawn by Guemsey,

Their final position, as developed by M. Benxnett, was not in relation to the issus of
domicile at all, but based on practices similarly operating in England and Wales under
local avthority legislation, namely that if a parent oF patents chose atesouree different
from the one approved by Guernsey, they were under no obligation to pay, and would
not pay, '

Ms. Richards’ commentary upon this males the following telling points:

1) Guernsey is e separate sovereign jurisdiction, and whilst it is an interested
party in these proceedmgs, that status does not entitle me jurisdictionally fo

impose upon them orders iraporiing financial consequences, or at all.

ii) 1¢, as they have stated, they would not pay for such servicss should HM live
with PM, the only remedy to challenge them would be by way of judicial
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review in Guernsey, for they are not armenable 1o the English fudicial review
juzisdiction.

iif} Leaving aside the father’s position in relation 10 litigating in Guernsey which
he says in effect is 2 closed door to bim he being currenily in conterapt, and
looking at the issue in the round, it would be extremely difficult for anyone
challenging such  decision “givons the zbsence of any statutory framowork
placing express duties om Guernsey to contisue funding in such
circurnstances”.

) She further points out that Guemsey’s approach is similar to an English local
social services authority as o payment jgesues, and that T cannot asswme that
any local authorily in whose area HM would, be living (ss part of PM’s
household) weuld immediately step in to pick up the bills, Al local
authoritics would wish fo carry out fhelr own compaunity care assessment
pursuant to the provisions of section 47 of the National Health Service and
Community Care Act 1990, and then apply its own eligibility criteria and its
rESOUICes. '

¥) - PM ig currently living in rented accommodation in Cheadle, and Ms. Richards
" points out that Stockport funds only services which mest the criteria of
,_f‘substmitial g entical” as defined by the “Fair Access to Care Services”
“ framework as set out in a Department of Health document. In other words 1
could have no guarantes that even after all of their enquiries were mace as 10

the meeds of IIM when living with her father thet they would pay for them.

vi)  Ifin due course the Father roturns to his restored end repaired horae in Gately
le would be regarded as ordinarily resident there (as would M if she lived
with him) and Stockport would continue to be responsibie.

vi{)  Ms. Richards also points out that the father's requirement of services from:
“Appropriate therapists, including but ol limited to especially » speech and
language therapist and 2 ocoupational therapist” dues not ordinarily fall
within the remit of a local social services anthocity. Such provision is usually
made by the local NHS Trust after thelr own assessments. No enquiries have
been made as to thelr view which they wonld be unlikely to give i any event
umless and umtil M lived within their catehment. :

viif) Finally, she points out that | have no power within these proceedings to order
sither of these local autharities or any National Health Service Trust to provide
TV with specific community care o services.

i respectfully agree with that clear analysis.
Te follows that an essential bulwark of the Father’s proposed care provisien stmply
cannof be put in place in anything like the necessary time-scale, even if 3t were 10

prove possibls in due course.

Turning to the question of his accommodation, and congidering only any restored and
repaired property in Stockport, the father's proposal involves substaptial conversion
work 1 have referred to elsewhere, 1 must take a practicel view oa the lkelihood of
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any such major strustural work being camicd out even if it {s possible, Financially It
is unlikely to be camied out within sny reasonzble time-scele for the proper
accommodating of FIM.

135, Apart from el these practical issues there i of comrse the sories of suggested
disqualifications put forward by the experls in this case 28 well aa by tae mother. |
should emphasise again that at Do point do 1 regard expesis as deciding this case.
Neveriheless they have been helpful i presenting to me a TauBe of problems for
sonsideration, and their careful analyais of the needs of HM. I appresizte that the
Father has no confidence in any opinion which he does not shate, and in the course of
his cross-exgmination of, for example, Ms. Walshe he meade some telling points.
Nevertheless the totality of the expert evidence in the case haus given me as clear a

picture ag 1 think may be reasonably achicved of HM and her needs.

136. I shall return later to the necessary analysis of benefits and disadvantages in relatien
1o some of the proposals for HM's care.

Contact:
137 AsDr, Land observes:

#7y ie clear both from my direct oheervation, from the written
records and from all of my disoussions that HM generally
derives a great deal of pleasure fom contact with her parents”.

138, Inm the course of his assidnous preparation and pres entation of his case, the father has
(ag referred to earlier) drawn to my attention a very substantial number of inforraal
restimonials (eppended to his statement of 24" July and 3% November) a3 to his skills
with HM, and es to the obvicus enjoyment of HM when obzerved on contact, -
imcluding observations of hior over mauy months by members of the synagogue thay
attend, and at Shabbat meals 10 give but two illustrations. I accept as T heve already
roade clear, without the neoessity of having heard any of them, that the descriptions
given by those testimonials present an aceurate picture. All acoounts of the miother’s
cantact with M speak equally wannly. '

139. T have no doubt at all thet it is waquestionably in HM's best interests to have contact
with both of her parents and her sister, Unhappily, as between the ruother and father,
it has hitherto been necessary to TesOrt frequently to law to sdjudicate between the
competing claims.

140. For some period of time prior to February this year, the father enjoyed contact with
M on the basis of collecting her from DLC on Friday aftsmoon and retuming her on
Saturday at 10am, as well as provision for staying contact over holiday periods.

141. On 18" February 2008 it was decided at a tnesting of which the father was not
notified, but which was antended by, amongst others, the mother and a Ms, LS who
had prepared a core 4$sessment on M for the Guemsey Social Services, that the
father's contest should be suspended. 1o the ensuing menths no contact took place
despite his amdons wish that it should be reinstated. [ heve declined to conduct 8
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post-mortem into who said what to whom at that mesting or in the months which
followed, but on the basis of the matexizl before me ] find it astonishing that such a
step was talesn with no cleer structure in place for the determination of the inevitable
dispute which followed, and no-ome apparently taking charge of any discussion,
pegotiation, or consideration of the father’s position.

It would seem from the evidence of Mr, A that although at that meeting and for &
period ghortly thereafter Guermsey regarded itself as being able to determine the issve
of the father's contact, Mr. A was subsequently advised by his own legal department
dat it was not his responsivility and be had no authority in the matter, Cheshire did
nothing, and at the end of bearing ail ‘he evidence it scemed to me quite clear that
nobody was taking any responsibility at all to progress the matter 1o resolution, I
appreciate that for a brief period there was a POVA (protection of a vulnerable adul)
enquiry, but certainly the ovidence of Mr. A (who was kept abreast of matters whilst
not regarding himself as having any amtnority on the subject) establishes that any
concems originally votced had dirainished to the point where he regarded there as
being no risk in re-instituting contast.

iy June 2008 the father applied for a Yifiing of the stay on the provesdings iroposed by
Sumner J,, nd very shorily afterwards the Officlal Selicitor issued his own
application for e lifting of the stay so that contact issues could be determined. The
patterm ‘thersafter has, by court order, more or less been 2 resteration. of the pre-

Febrnary contact, again supplemented by periods of staying contact over holidays.

One of the many problems in this case has bosn the above-noted absence of any
formal structure to detexmyine the nature and quentum of contact to-the father, As
Guemsey have polnted out their view is that these decisions fall, pursuant to ths
Guernsey orders, squarely within the responsibility and authority of the mother, save
where the English court now involved provides otherwise. She has ot shown any
grest willingness {o negotiate directly with the father for entirsly understandeble
reasons given the history. Thus it fell by default to DLC to take a significant part in
discussions, and it was they who, &s I have noted elsewhere, have bormne the briomt of
fhe father's displessure from time-to-time et what he sees as an ummecessary inhibition
o his time with lus daughter. DLC should never have besn. pit in that position, and
their teluctant assumption of the rols of negotiator with the father has further
oatastrophically soured relations betwesn them.

What is essential is that a proper structure is now put in place to disouss suck Issuss,
removing DLC from that wiwanted role. The mulii-disciplinary meetings to be
atiended by the father (and Mr. CY ifhe is willing and aveailable) would provide one,

As 1o the expert evidenee on confact, I amn grateful for an encapsulation of Ms.
Walshe's view on fais subject set out in paragraph 55 of the Officlal Solicitor's
statement of 28" Qctober 2008, It reads as follows: '

snfs Welshe notes that should HM move to the DLC (Coliege)
her life there will introduce her to more adult arrangements mn
respect of her sducational and cars needs. In keeping with the
shift of emphasis, it is essential that contact arangements re
balanced against her right to engage fully in sny desired social
aspects that 4 college enviromnent is likely to offer. She notes
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(aal the current confact axrangements provide a reasonable ba sis
from which to commenoce; however they should be modified
and reviewed in the light of the observations about HM's move
to a mors adult pattern of 1ife [E408 - E409, volume 1].”

Dr. Land is fully supportive of continuing contact for the reasons given elsewhere. [t
is his clear view, having observed PM with FIM (despite a rocky start to the visit) and
a visit with the mother that as a generality HM derives a considerable degres of
pleasure end stipmulation from contact with each of her parents, Whilst he would
invite me ta lay down a basic struciure there should be provision for negotiating
sccasional flexibility but aoly through HM's care co-ordinater, Tagree.

The difficulties of arranging confact on an ad hoo basis are overwhelming, Therg
appears to me 10 be no alternative but to set up, by order, a elear schedule of parmitted
contacts which may only be altered in case of emergency, or where prior negotiation
within. the organisational framework outlined elsewhere imports some ocoasional
flexibility.

Tt {5 clear from what has gone tefore that HM attends Synzgogus with her father
regularly-and frequently. Itis accepted that she enjoys her time at these meetings, 2nd
is always welcomed there, The father wonld wish, in supplement 1o any existing
perlods of comiact, to be afforded access to EIM on the occasion of any Jewish
festivals, The mother as T earlier roted iz, in prinsiple, entirely agreeable to this, and
accordingly I havs invited the parties to produce an agreed schedule for contact,

Fiappily, lazgely as 2 result of the ekill and adroit negotiation of Miss Trving QcC. .

there were discussions between the mother and the father (in company with his
Mckenzie Frisnd) leading to such un agreed schedule between now and September
2009, I approve those arrangements and require the schedule to be appended o my
order.

Personal Care:

151,

152,

At the momens it would appear that the father on contact visits (includbg the lengthy |

holiday periods) assists EM i intimate care to & very sigmilficant degree, if not on
each and every occasion that she needs 1. His assistameo is required when she uscs
ihe lavatary, when she showers (he sornetimes sharing the shower with her sither

wearing shorts or naked) or bathes, and in overseeing any problems associated with

menstruating.

This yolmg woman cugrently needs this help with her intimate care. It is fhe view of
Ms. Walshe and the mother in particular that, as & mattey of personal dignity and
privacy, 2 “bespoks package of care” should be commenced sooner rather than later,
Ms. Walshe slaborated on the subject in her oral évidence, noting her concem at the
current arrangepaents swmarised sbove, making {t cleac that both father and HM
wers vulnerable to accusation and misundergtanding in contimuing the ouerent
arrangements which fail to establish clear boundaries as to what is appropriate as
between & man and 4 woman, potentially further making HM wulnerable o
exploitation by other adulis. 1 asked her how this Intervention would work, and it was
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her view that s fulldime carer (in addition to the father) chould be available
throughout any peried in which HM is staying with her father, ¢ither ia this country or
abroad. It would be the function of that carer to be available day or night to assist in
intiroate care, There should be no ad hoc domictliery care agency staff imvolved in
this, but a dedicated team specifically commissioned #nd trained, and whom both HM
and PM lonow. ‘

Tt is worlh neting by way of illustration that HM’s ostensible preference as to the
idenmtity of her Intimate carer, on aocasions when she hes a choice, always seems to be
her father (even over her sister JIM). 1t was the mother’s evidence on this subject that
it is no surprise that FIM shonld chaose her father in preferenes to others, The mother
told me that she gid not regard it as appropriate when JM and HM were growing up
together that JM should be charged with the intimate care of her slightly younger
cister. Tt was thus family policy fhat HM shonld tum either fo her mothex or to her
father, and that FIM is essentially habituated to choonsing a parent over her sister. ltis
the mother’s clear view that it i essential to recruit & female intimate carer. She, in
accord with Ms. Walshe, thought overnight stays should cease until such a carer is 50
secriiied, The Official Solicitor does not support this view, and in her closing written

cubmissions the mother did not insist upon this.

The level of intrusion of such en individual on s full-time besis (however diserest) no
doubt against the wishes of HM, and vndoubtedly against the wishes of PV, cannot be
inder-estimated. 1t would essentally wholly change the dynamic of contact were
such a person to be inroduced into the household. Additionally, any such carer
would have to ask herself what are HM's wishes from time-to-time in this matter, take
those wishes info account, and then decide as to whether or not they would require 4

- potentially very reluctant young woman 0 pecmit them to administer intimnate cate in

preference to her father. To state these problems is cormnparatively easy, to resolve
thenl more acuis.

As Dr. Land points out in his very helpful discussion of this issue, thers is across
sooiety a very wide range of views on the subject of the appropriateness or otherwise
of ross-gender assistance of this kind, Historieally and even currently, many would
not regard this as an issuein such cirountstances, but there is an increasing awareness,
a3 the Offisizl Solieitor points owt, of the right to respect for privacy and personal
dignity, .

This problem arises for consideration irrespective of fhe auitome of whether or not
HM goes to DLC (College) or goes to her father's home. No-one has made enqguiry
as 1o costings, As the father pointed out in his cross-examination of Ms, Walshe, 1o
require the attendance of such a carer op, for example, the foreign holidays he and
EIM habitually take in the summer would involve the payors in additional hotel bills,
flight costs, ets, When asked about meefing these costs, it was nevertheless the view
of Guernsey that subject to negotiating a relevant budget Guemsey would pay for the
provision of tiis servics (but 1 omphasise only on the basis that it related to contact
perieds, and not if M were to live with her father full-time). '

It is the suggestion of Ms. Walshe, supported by the Official Solicitor, that this meter
should be one for discussion by all interested parties at a mesting or meetings invoked
by the care co-ordinator. I agree with that suggested course, The Official Solicitor’s
injtial proposel is that such a carer should he mtroduced to HM at the DLC (Collegs),




MEL JUSTICE RODERLC Woub _ Doulle-clisie to enter the shovt tiile
Anproved Fodpnear :

158,

159.

oM

and provide these services to her there. In due course, if the Intraductions work and
M becomes amenzble to these attentions by such a carer, the srangement should be
extended to the provision of care st the father’s home,

It is the final position of the father on this matter, as indeed | understand he has
jndicated in previous discussions onm the subjeot, that he would have no objection to
“he recruitment of such a carer, but would not wish that person to be a permanent part
of family lifs during contact visits including holideys. What he would find accepiable
is that such a carer would visit at sppropriate and regular intervals whilst HM is with
her father to bathe her eto.

I do not feel able to come to any concluded view on this subject at this stage. It seems
' me that this roust inevitably be an issue for further negotiation, and recrufiment and
infroduetion of such a carer to HM. Only when the experiment has been epgaged in
will the picture of how this carer might operate become 2 little cloarer.

Burdens/Benefits: Best Interests:

: The Fafher"gs.'E:x ectations:

HM: 1he Fatner s HXPeciatlOBs.

160,

161,

162.

163.

As part of his suggestion that FIM is increasingly institutionalised at DLC the father
has frequently criticised the way in which HM’s sigrage is misconstrued by those at
DLC. Her Janguage book is not kept up o date. There are, bocause of her sometimes
iiogyneratic methods of signing, misinderstandings between HM and staff, and that
their whole epproach is sufficiently incoherent to be geverely ichibiting if not
shrinking her commmication, All agree ihat communication is an essentizl tool in her
werld. She is widely regarded as being a good commumnicator, and Interested in
conveying her views,

It is the father’s assertion that having entered DLC with a sign vocabulary in excess of
200 she has mow a diminished vocabulary of (to one Listener) 12, I note that this
observation was made to a speech therupiat the father had engaged independently in
October 2002, over 12 months befose she entered DLC, thus causing an sttyibution of
shrinkage to DLC as naccurate, This suggests, as Dr. Land observes, tho possibility
either that FIM's expressive abilities show a marked fluctuation “or that the regression
that PM. observes achually occumed prior to DLC”. One has to ask the guestion
whether or not the father was in fact acourate in asserting 200 signs in the first place
in a child who was significantly younger, who had far less speech and lsnguage
therapy provision prior to entering DLC than subsequently, and where her seizures
were then very badly conmolled, thus disrupting the acquisition. of skille in this area. [
can comme to no clear conclusion on this point,

Let me consider his criticism of DLC explicitly made that there has been no (or
insufficient) evidence of the provision of appropriate services to her in both speech
and other areas.

Dr, Land has very hslpfully analysed the volume of notes made available, and it is
svident fhat there has been accupational therapy provided at DLC between 2005 and
2007,

BS
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164.

165.

166.

157'

168,

169.

170.

Those files also show significant inpu! throughout the whole peried of EM's
residence at DLC in speech and language therapy. Althaugh the provision has over '
{ime been variable it has racely been less then formighily and ofien more frequently
than that Hs finds evidence of the exploration of a range of “communication
modalities” with AM. Although the work s incomplete the speech and language
therapist’s project of compiling a dictionary of HM’s words and signs has already
reached in excess of 130.

There sre reguler multidisciplinary reviews, at which are reprosented a range af
differont expertise.

It should of course be home in mind that the recent improvement in medicating aud
anaging her epilepsy has led 10 a significant improvement in her functioning ence
freed (by and large) from the terrible distraction of sejzures.

T have referred above (o the atiempt 1o consider different forms of commusnication, In
this comtext it is worth looking at thé report of Helen Chssters, a specialist speech and
language therapist who has considered 1M and her progress, She observes:

“Although HM's speech, language and communication skills

are severely dslayed in terms of her chronological age's level
of functioning, she clearly demonsirates 2 capacity to Jearn and

*‘aoquire meW sldlls and an lmerest in numerous different stimull,
A her seizures have been conirolled more effectively she
would appear more receptive to communicating and o0 learning
generally”.

Haying noted that “the receplive and pxpressive langnage gnd communication
diffculties she currently exbibits appear to lhave a significant impact on her life at
present” she goes on to recommmend that & particular system , &s I anderstand it not
hitherto conmsidered, should be fried. The acronym is P.B.C.5. [NB. Thero was
contrary evidence from Mr, Dean who told me that this system had been ied by the
school, and found not o be efficacious.] :

Dr. Land, in considering this option, is clear that he is mot guestioning that
recommendation, apart from anything else it not being his area of expertise, But he’
does use it as an illustration of how it might be possible for an expert to be absolutely
comect within their framework of expertige, but thal it nesds to be considered
cealistically within the context of all other provision on offer in order to determine
whether it is right for this particular individual bearing in mind all the other features
of HM's life.

Thers is cvidence (albeit only a fragment of the overall picturs) from Dr, Land who
tad seen & contact visit between father and daughter, that such was the high level of
stimulus from a mumber of events fed into the short period when the two were
togother that he poses the question as to whether or not the high level of expectation
of the father and the understandabls wishes he has for his daughter and her
dovelopment, do not create chrcumstances in which FM inevitsbly becomes anxions.
{ should note, howsver in this context that there was Do svidence on that occasion of
any anxisty, but that Dr. Lemd's worry is based on weli-established ponciples

underlying psychiatry corcerning excessive stimulation. This theme was reflected in

BN%
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the mother’s evidence of her experience of high levels of stimulation and expectation
{eading to obvious evidence of anxiety on the part of HM on her return from such
visite, and the lengthy period of stabilisation necded in consequence.

171, I have the very clear impression from a variety of sources thet his gxpeciations, not
just 4n the area of signing, are overly optimistic when considering the reality of his
daughtex's capabilities.

Residence:

172.  Trom a variety of sources [ have 2 carefu) analysis of the respective advantages and
disadvantages of HM living with her father in England.

173. Before I turn to specifics, it s ‘both necessary and appropriate to gat out the governing
principle advanced by Dr. Lacd for the care of young aduits such es FIM: Now she is
2 young adult the thrust of her core should be towards achieving the best rosult
possible to permit her some degree of independence and/or autonomy even from het
parents. The colleges to which I have made reference are all, in principle, designed to
echieve this result, and both Dr. Land and Ms. Walshe spoke of the necessity for it in
an ege which ‘has come to understand perhaps better thap formerly the riead (o
enootirage a lessening of dependence, and a greater degree of privacy.

174. Miss Richards, in her closing submissions, says this:

[y is jmportant to emphasise that H ig now an pdult end that in
approaching the guestion of H's best inferests there is mo
presumption or assumption in favowr of residence or contact
with a parent, either at common law (Re D-R_(Adult: Contact)
(19997 1 FLR 1161, CA.) or under the MCA, or under Att. 3
ECHR. As Sedley LY held in Re F (Adult Pationt) (20007 2
FLR S12, CA: “Ii needs to be vemembered thal the lubulated
right 1s not le fumily life as such but to respect for . The
purpose, In niy view, Iy 10 assuré within proper limits the
entitlement of individuals to the benefit of what is benign and
positlve in family Tife. T ix not to allow other individuals,
however closely related and well-dntentioned, to create or
perpetuate situations which jeopardise their welfure. "

{ agree.

375. Tn comwrast to that proposition, the father suggested to me thar it was increasingly 2
pattern for young people (disabled or otherwise) to live with their patents, sometimes
during their college/further education, and Frequently thereafter. He also emphasised
fhe importance which society puts upon families for the provision of care of its
members, He clearly saw it a8 his proper responsibility and voluntarily embraced the
ebligation 1o lodk after his daughter. He spoke eloquently and pemuinely on the
subject. '

B
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176.

177.

T have already set out in some detail many of the points which need to be made in
conducting this znalysis, but it may be useful if T again tabulete them in surmmary.
Dr, Land in his report set them out in the following way, and 1 sce no reason 10 alter
hls oxder, I begin with the advanlages of FOM Jiving with her father. They are:

)

v)

vi)

There is clearly a mufual love, affection and enjoyment between father and
danghter. '

The father mvests conslderable endsavour and energy in providinig a range of
options for HM 10 stimulate her as well as for her to enjoy.

e can provide “coimnpstent care for her at least over a short-term period” (ali
that it has been possible to test in Teoent years when he has been constricted in
his apportumities to loolc after her).

He ig highly motivated to pHIsue what he considers to be in her best irterests.
A pood {llusiration was his proper questioning of tlie necessity to have an
operation in relation to 2 yagal-nerve stimulator,

. Heis'very good ar commumicating with FM, and Facilitating her.

His expéctésﬁons for her are wigh and positive. The corresponding

~ digadvantages of this proposition are set out above, and ses iv) below where I

consider them 1 detatl,

Through him she has access to he Jewish community who havs, in the
opportunitics she has had to mest with them, ernbraced her as one of their
mpober.  Socialisation outwith the namow group of those with similar
handicaps is something to be gtriven for. During worship at the synagogue she
hag, for example, acquired an dbility to ‘moderate her own occasionally
eccentric behaviour, as well ng experience religious ghservance and \Warm
gocial exchangs,

The father clearly has material resourcss which can be put at her comumand
(although I have chosen not to investigate them in detatl).

The Father accepts, redlistically, that be will need some help and support in
meeling her social care needs.

He sees the advantege for M of pursuing her educational goals to move her
fyrther towards o state which permits her a greater degree of zutonomy in due
COUTSe,

The disadvantages he 1stg are:

i)

That it would be nmsual, for the policy Teasons given above, 1o retutn & young
child who had bepun the process of moving away from family towards a
degree of Independence and antonomy back ta a parental home. Ag Miss
Richards points out: “Tt would be smusual to retwn z young adult with a
learning disability back to five at home once they have started the pathway 1o
greater independencs”, And laters “Although her lemming disabilities are
severe, it is important 10 Lo regard to her emational development and the

=
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i)

iv)

vii)

viif)

fact that there are many respects in which she enjoys living as an ordinary
young wornan would”. T agree.

The father does nof, it scems, sccept {ns degres of support which would be
required in full-time care.

His age.

Having paid tribute to the advantage of an extensive range of activities
facilitated on her behalf, the “sheer frenetic pace of their current weekends
together whilst perfectly acceptable for a short period of time cauld easily be
overwhelming if sustained on a longer-tenm basis”, His drive for her to
progress and exceed could he detrimental if he pureues this aim “a hundred
percent of the time”, In this context the father perfectly propetly observed to
rae that he has to “cram a lot ix” by way of activity because hie secs his
dzughter so Tittle,

There s currently no suitably appropriztely adapted physical environment (see
sbove for my cenumentary on hie zccommodation),

* There is qvi&cncs (accepted by the father) that she gains weight when with
- him. The father atiributes this to a holiday laxity in diet, and the failure of
' DLC to provide him with an appropriate dietary guide. Whilst I understand

the point about holiday laxity, this tighly informed and purposeful father
could readily seek dietary advice from other sources if he was truly worried,
but T do not find him to bs so. However, 1 do nol think this Sactor should
recefve disproportionate attention.

He ralsee serfous doubt as io whether or not PM has the ability to receive and

accommodate advice which conflicts with his owa perception of HM’s best
interests. I agree with hir,

A different aspect of the immediately preceding problem is the likelihood of
anty carers who take  different view from him, staying of being permiited to
stay in the home, His striving for perfection is more lilely than not fo Jead to a
high turnover of care staff in any support package because of what they may
see ae his unreasonable expectations of them, or beeanse he discharges them.

He mnotes that “PM now interprets information through a highly negative
schernata which has the potential to significantly impair his abilify to care for
M in the medium and long-term”, He gives 2 nwuber of examples where the
Father has pessimistle expectations of others, for exafnple in many of his
dealings with professionals hie expects 10 be unhappy at the outcome of their
dealings with him, an all-foo frequently self-fulfilling prophecy. He finds it
diFfoult to make a fresh start in any relationships which have hitherto been
problematic becanss of his “deep sense of injustice”.

He observes, as ) have noted above, that the father i3 an extremely powerful
individual with limited insight into the impact he has upon others. How, he
agies, will PM “hear” HM when she wishes to exprass a view or take a course
of action different from his chosen onie?

=
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178.
179,

180,

181,

xI)

xii)

1 havae already spoken of the issnes surrounding intimate cars.

Doublechck 1 shter dw sharrthle

For the reasons T have sel out elsewhere Guernsey would withdraw funding if
that were the placement which T approve. That has potentlally catastrophic
results for HM, certainly in the short end medium-tenm, for there is no

alternative currently fully and properly assessed, and no obvious payor.

He ralacs a number of other points but { choose not to detail them.

The weight of the evidence [ have recelved, to a greater or lesser extent supports his
analysis, and T need not tabulate in the same way the opinions of others.

He concludes his analysis of the benefits and disadvantages in the following way:

“Tn Jooking to weigh the advantages and disadvantages in the
balance I note that some of the very real and substamial
advantages of £0M spending time with PM are currently being
aclieved through good quality contact, rather than requiring
residence. Indeed in terms of the positive activity level,
intensive communication work and expectation of suecess, it

. could be argued that HM derives more benefit from regular

contact than she would if she lived with PM, 1 view HM's

. contact with the Jewish community 2s enormously beneficial,
" but again this is available on the basis of contact rather then

requiting residence, PM i8 1o be commended for his
commitment to HM and Lis willingness to provide her full time
care. However when T weigh up those advantages that oan pnly
be achieved by residence against the possible and probably

disadvantages I conclude that on balance it is pot in HM’s best

interest to Hve with PM in the medium or long term. That is
not to say thers are not many other possible medium or long
term placement options for HM which would be worse than
Jiving with PM s it is dmportent that any alternative
placements are demonsirebly botter, Given that it is not my
view that it is in HM’s best interests to live with and be
provided with care by PM I have not proceeded to set out the
care services and support package which would be requived by
VL (and PM) in such & sltuation.” :

I respectfitlly agree with this analysis, and his “belance sheet’, and find the oxercise
tips firmly in favour of the proposals of the Official Solicitoy for the care of M for
the eame reasomns,

DLC (Coliege):

182,

His report contimues in similar fashion to the weigh the advantages and disadvantages
of this facility,

RS L
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183,

184,

185.

It is fair to say that much of the assessment of advaiiage is bassd on what he
perceives to be the advantages adhering to HM’s lengthy period at DLC {(School), and,
making a projection from them.

The advagiages include:

i) She has now been trained in toileting which has greatly improved her quality
of tife,
i) She is much more sociable.

#if)  Thers has been asignificant reduction in her challenging behaviour.
jv)  Her ability to form relationships has advanced considerably.

v)  She appears to have increased canfidense and self-csteam.

vi) She has & greater degres of independence than forrneriy.

vii)  She hes an increased drive to communicaie.

- Vi) © Her slesp prdblams, hifherto muech in evidence, heve been largaly overcome.

I apprétiate that some of those features aro perhaps due to a normal maturation, some
are cvident following a stabilisation of her epilepsy, and, as T observed in gxchanges
in the hearing the seficlogy of improvement is difficult to teaze out and attributs to
this establishment when FOM’s world has other rich and valuable aspects to it as
provided for her by her mother and her father,

He goss ont

ix) DLC are well-used to menaging her epilepsy should it recur,

x) A transifion from DLC (School) to DLC (College), they being based on the same
campus, would permit 8 less fraught trangition given the desirability of continuity of
environment, ‘

xi) With her autistic traits ghe is particularly susceptible to change.

xit) The whole transitional process (described fo me carefully by Mr D) of
facniliacisation with new buildings, new stufs, and new peers would be undertalen at a
slow and sensitive paco, and because of the geographical proximity it would be

possible to achisve the transition by gentle increments otherwise imposeible if the
shift were from the school fo another establishment entirely.

xii) She would retain the same health pro fessionals at the collegs.

xifi)Some of her peers from the achoo] would zlso be moving on, and that would

_allow her to continue and develop peer relationships which she has come fo enjoy and

value greatly.

eS2
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%iv) DLC (School) staff are really enthusiastic about her and find her a deeply
rewarding child, She thus maves from one part of the organisation to the other wilh
an opportunity of certainly occasionally (If not more) seeing those who have enjoyed
er, and will no doubt continue g0 1o do.

xv) After an initia] period of one yeer it may be possible fo move towards
heommunity based residential settings”, My understanding of the evidence of Mr. D
on this point was that they have one establishment off-vamipus (but not too far away)
to which this suggestion applies.

xvi) The proximity of both of her parents to the DLC campus permits contact to take

 place without major travel and disTuption for her.

xvil) As elsewhere noted she is warmly welcomed info, in particular, the father’s
social and religions community and clearly emjoys it. A move away from the arsa
would thwart that.

xviii) DLC (Collega) would benefit from the accumulated knowlsdge and sxperience
of DLC (School) in how to cars for and manage HM to her best advaritage.

"‘D‘LC: Disadvﬂntageé:

186,

187,

18K,

Dr. Land began his list of disadvantages, 2s shall I, with the following ohservation:

“By far the biggest disadvantage of HM progrossing to the
DLC (College) is the eppalling relationship betwsen the DLC
smd PM. Given my view that it would be in TIM’s best interests
to try and normalise PM’s involvement in planning and review
of her cave, PM’s implacable hatred of the DLC, and the DLC's
sirict conditions for accepting HM, would not secm to bo a
good start.”

Having heard the evidepce In fnls case, I regard that as @ most elegant of
understatements.

Tt would appear that the Guemsey authorities passed on sufficient information about
theix view, md the Guernsey Court’s view, of PM te make DLC sdopt an anticipatory
protective posture. Put colloquially, in the eyes of TM, and even objectively viewed,
they “pulled up the drawbridge”, The father's contact with staff and access to the
campus was g0 hedged about with conditions that he felt understandably entirely
oxcluded froma “the home” of his daughter. T have noted clsewhere Dr, Land's view,
shared by others, of the fathers powerful psychological personality, and of his
obsessive habit of arguing every corner in immense and repetitive detajl. That
perticular characteristic (the effect of which I do not believe he understands) led to
both DLC znd the father in their different ways feeling embattled.

Beaause of Mhe leck of any ditsctive authority in relation to jesues such as contact,
DLC perforce occagionally nad to enter the arena, They should nat have been there,

S
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but were, I find, well-intentloned in their activity. Thet their efforts further enraged
the father s 2 matier of record,

1890, 11 is clear Fom the experts’ reports, (and in partiouler that of Ms. Chesters and the
occupsational therapist Ms. Hardy) that they have polnted out a nunaber of deficiencies
ag percefved by them in the provision. of services. I have dealt with Ms. Chesters’
report elsewhere, and simply observe at this point that Ms. Hardy’s revesls many
sueas where modest alteration of facilities or upgrading would bring the provision of
services for HM (and indeed the others at DLC) into fine with proper Health & Safety
standards for such an establishrment catering to its particular constituencies. There are
also menifest problems in communicating with PM, and it 1= a masker of the dismal
level to which increasingly acrimonious exchanges betvieen DLC and PM led them to
institute a requirerment that he only write to their solicitors at occasional interviews,
and they would not guarantee to either read or tespond to his letters!’

190. Thus the disadvantages of DLC fall into two categories: the objec'tivcl},? verified
deficiencies in the provision of services {(and comparatively modest deficiencies al
that), and the systemmic feilure of sommurication ar any level between PM and the
staff.

191, I saw reports from My, D and heard him give evidence, Tt is particnlarly unhappy that
" pot only with DLC but also other organisations it was possible to hold a civilised and
productive mesting only for the limited progress made to be blown out of the water
almiost immmediately. A perticular itlustration of this is the meeting between Mr. D
and the father which appeaed 1o be productive, and was thought by both to be B
constructive engagement discussing each others points of view, followed a little over
twa weeks later by the father's solicitors serving a Data Protestion Act notice upon
the school. Mr. D's demeanour in the witness box when recalling the tens of hours
spent by the school, and then by solicitors scarching and then re-ssarching all of the
celavant documentation, batrayed sven now his anger and distress at what he regarded
as a wholly unnecessary and provocative request. [See gbove for may comments on
this.]

192.  Onoe agein [ find myself in agreement with this ‘balance sheet’, and have corme to The

conclusion tat DLC (College) is the appropricte establishment for HM, the
advemtages outweighing the disadvantages.

Summary of Conclusions:

103. I have slready made clear my view that DLC (College) is the only appropriate option
on offer in the best interests of M.

194, There is, happily, sgreement recorded ebove as 1o the nafure and quantum of contact
between father amd -daughter in the event that I approve, as I have, her transition to
DLC (College).

105, Similarly, for the reasons given ebove, 1 approve the conditions attaching to the
father's dealings with DLC (College). '

RSS
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196.
197.

198.
199,
200,

201.

I approve the agreed schedule of contact.

I approve the establishment of 2 niti-disciptinary conference, chaired by a cars co{'

ordinator, to consider as b matter of urgenoy, not only continuing provision, but the .-

necessary provisions following her gradustion from college to the next stage of her

life. The doft, 2l too evident so far, in purposeful planning has been masked, It

should not be repeated.
1 approve the recrujtracat of an advocate for HM.

Should this ease ever return to cowt, [ approve the suggestion in Miss Richards’ drvaft
order to the offect that any application/s made by the mother or the father should be
served upon the Official Soliciter priar to the court having to consider the matter.

In the event that HM herself (through her Litigation Friend) makes application,
assume as 4 working proposition that the Official Solicitor shall be that Litigation
Friend.

I imvite the attention of the relevant parties to the continuing existence of orders in the
Royal Court of Guernsey whick have been, perforce, overtaken by the above. Steps
should be taken to bring about a regularisation of the position between the two sets of

orders. In the event that appliestion is made to the Royal Court of Guernsey to

discharge any undertaldng/declaration or orders of thelirs, I direct that this judgment as
well a5 my orders/declarations should be brought to their attention. 1 would also hope
that they should be informed that weftber I nor my predecessors in the Eaglish
jurisdiction have intended any discourtesy {o their own coneideration of these matters,
even though there has now been erected a diffecent edifice.

That is My Judement:




